RECEIVED

12-13-2017

STATE OF WISCONSIN

CLERK OF SUPREME COURT OF WISCONSIN

IN SUPREME COURT

Case No. 2016AP002483-CR

STATE OF WISCONSIN,

Plaintiff-Respondent,

v.

PATRICK H. DALTON,

Defendant-Appellant-Petitioner.

On Appeal from a Judgment of Conviction and Order Denying Postconviction Relief Entered in the Washington County Circuit Court, the Honorable Todd K. Martens, Presiding.

BRIEF AND APPENDIX OF DEFENDANT-APPELLANT-PETITIONER

HANNAH SCHIEBER JURSS Assistant State Public Defender State Bar No. 1081221

Office of the State Public Defender 17 S. Fairchild Street, 3rd Floor Madison, WI 53703 (608) 267-1773 jurssh@opd.wi.gov

Attorney for Defendant-Appellant-Petitioner

ISSUES PRESENTED

Within minutes of arriving, police had enough information to try to obtain a warrant to draw Mr. Dalton's blood. With five police officers involved and ten to fifteen firefighters assisting with traffic and safety, police instead prioritized other matters including examining the scene, speaking with witnesses, and waiting for a car to be towed.

I. Was Mr. Dalton Denied the Effective Assistance of Counsel When His Attorney Failed to Move to Suppress the Blood Test Results on Grounds that Police Lacked Exigent Circumstances to Forcibly Draw His Blood Without a Warrant?

The circuit court denied Mr. Dalton's post-conviction motion after an evidentiary hearing. (114:73-94;App.143-164). The Court of Appeals affirmed, holding that the police had exigent circumstances. *State v. Dalton*, 16AP2483-CR, unpublished slip op., ¶¶ 33-42);(App.115-119).

II. Under *Missouri v. McNeely* and *Birchfield v. North Dakota*, May a Circuit Court Impose a Harsher Criminal Punishment at Sentencing Because a Defendant Exercised His Constitutional Right to Refuse a Warrantless Blood Draw?

Prior to imposing the maximum length of sentence for the operating while intoxicated offense, the circuit court told Mr. Dalton: "You don't have the right not to consent. And that's going to result in a higher sentence for you." (111:16; App.167). The circuit court denied Mr. Dalton's motion for resentencing. (98;114:90-94;App.141,160-164). The Court of Appeals affirmed. *State v. Dalton*, 16AP2483-CR, unpublished slip op., ¶¶ 43-52 (WI App July 19, 2017); (App.120-124).

STATEMENT ON ORAL ARGUMENT AND PUBLICATION

This Court's decision to grant review demonstrates that argument and publication are warranted.

STATEMENT OF THE FACTS AND CASE

A. Case History

The State charged Mr. Dalton with one count of operating while intoxicated, second offense. (1). The State later added charges of operating with a prohibited alcohol concentration and operating after revocation. (9). The analysis of Mr. Dalton's blood revealed a blood alcohol content of .238 grams of ethanol per 1000 milliliters of blood. (9).

Mr. Dalton's trial attorney never filed a motion to suppress the blood evidence taken from him without a warrant.

Mr. Dalton entered no contest pleas to operating while intoxicated, second offense, and operating after revocation. (111). The State agreed to move to dismiss and read-in the count of operating with a prohibited alcohol concentration, as well as other traffic matters. (111:1-2).

The circuit court sentenced Mr. Dalton the same day. (111:15-18;App.166-169). The court imposed the maximum sentence of 180 days in jail for operating while intoxicated and ninety days for operating after revocation, with the two sentences ordered to run consecutively to each other and consecutive to an over two-year revocation sentence. (111: 14,17-18;App.168-169).

¹ Trial counsel explained that Mr. Dalton also had roughly fifteen months of extended supervision to serve on the revocation sentence. (111:14).

In imposing sentence, the court explicitly stated that it was punishing Mr. Dalton more severely because he refused to consent to a blood draw:

The other thing you did is anybody who drives a motor vehicle in Wisconsin impliedly consents to a blood or breath draw after they're arrested. And you were arrested, and you disregarded that, and you will be punished for that today. You don't have the right not to consent. And that's going to result in a higher sentence for you.

(111:16; App. 167) (emphasis added).

Mr. Dalton filed a post-conviction motion. (42). He sought plea withdrawal and suppression of the blood evidence, arguing that he was denied the effective assistance of counsel as his attorney failed to file a motion to suppress the warrantless blood draw. (42). If denied, he sought resentencing on grounds that the court erred when increasing his criminal punishment for exercising his constitutional right to refuse a warrantless draw of his blood. (42:13-15).²

The circuit court first denied Mr. Dalton's claim for plea withdrawal and suppression without an evidentiary hearing. (112;52). It also denied his motion for resentencing. (112:24-26;52). Mr. Dalton appealed.

After the parties finished briefing, but before the Court of Appeals issued its first decision, the United States Supreme Court decided *Birchfield v. North Dakota*, 579 U.S. _____, 136 S.Ct. 2160 (2016). Mr. Dalton filed a letter with the court noting the *Birchfield* decision. *See State v. Dalton*,

² Mr. Dalton also sought plea withdrawal on grounds that the circuit court failed to explain his constitutional right to not testify at trial at the time he entered his plea. (42). He did not renew this argument on appeal. The court granted his request to vacate the DNA surcharge. (52).

16AP06-CR, unpublished slip op., ¶ 14 (WI App July 20, 2016) (hereinafter "*Dalton I*");(77:10;App.139).

In *Dalton I*, the Court of Appeals reversed and remanded for the *Machner*³/suppression hearing. *Id.*;(77; App. 130-140). The Court of Appeals concluded that, in light of the U.S. Supreme Court's holding in *Missouri v. McNeely*, 569 U.S. 141 (2013), "Dalton may well have succeeded at an evidentiary hearing on a motion to suppress." *Id.*, ¶¶ 11-13; (77:8-9;App.137-138).

It also directed the circuit court to consider the U.S. Supreme Court's decision in *Birchfield v. North Dakota* on remand as to Mr. Dalton's resentencing claim. *Id.*, ¶ 14;(77:10;App.139).

Following remand, the circuit court, the same judge presiding, held the *Machner* hearing and again denied Mr. Dalton's post-conviction claims for plea withdrawal and suppression or, if that were denied, resentencing. (98;113; 114;App.141-164 (court's oral ruling)).

With regard to the suppression of the blood evidence, the court found that trial counsel was "not ineffective for failing to file a meritless motion." (114:90;App.160).

With regard to resentencing, the court found *Birchfield* distinguishable because "Wisconsin doesn't criminalize a refusal." (114:93;App.163).

Mr. Dalton again appealed. The Court of Appeals affirmed the circuit court's order denying his motion for plea withdrawal with suppression of the blood evidence and resentencing. *State v. Dalton*, 16AP2483-CR, unpublished

³ State v. Machner, 92 Wis. 797, 285 N.W.2d 905 (Ct. App. 1979).

slip op., (WI App July 19, 2017)(hereinafter "*Dalton II*"); (App.101-125). This Court granted Mr. Dalton's petition for review.

B. The Evidence Presented at the *Machner*/Suppression Hearing

Police were dispatched to the scene of a single-car crash at 10:07 pm on December 12, 2013. (114:7,9,77; App.147). This occurred roughly eight months after the U.S. Supreme Court decided *Missouri v. McNeely*, 569 U.S. 141 (2013)(issued April 17, 2013).

The passenger in the car informed police upon their arrival that Mr. Dalton had been drinking, that Mr. Dalton was the driver of the crashed car, and that he drove erratically. (114:77; App.147). The passenger also told police that Mr. Dalton lost control of the car, causing the car to go into a ditch and roll over several times. (114:9-10). When police arrived, Mr. Dalton was laying on the roof of the car and smelled of alcohol. (114:14-15).

i. The police officers' testimony

Deputy Dirk Stolz testified that he ordered the warrantless draw of Mr. Dalton's blood. (114:4-50). Sergeant (then-Deputy) Charles Vanderheiden, who was also involved on scene and in the investigation, and Captain (then-Administrative Lieutenant) Martin Schulteis, who was a records custodian, also testified. (113:32-90).

Deputy Stolz explained that he has been a deputy sheriff for the Washington County Sheriff's Office for over twenty years. (114:4). He would have been trained on the *McNeely* decision "as soon as it came out." (114:6-7).

⁴ Testimony occurred over two days. (113;114).

He was dispatched to Mr. Dalton's car crash on Highway 41 in Richfield on December 12, 2013, at 10:07 pm, with Deputy Chad Polinske. (114:7,9;95:3).

There were ultimately a total of five police officers involved at the scene: Deputy Stolz, Deputy Polinske, Sergeant Vanderheiden, Deputy Anderson, and shift commander Lieutenant Robert Martin. (114:15-16).

By Deputy Stolz's estimate, there were also ten to fifteen firefighters on scene to "make sure the scene was safe" and block traffic. (114:17).

Deputies Stolz and Polinske arrived in four minutes. (114:7,9). Deputy Stolz was the lead officer, which meant he was able to instruct the other officers as to what to do to further the investigation. (114:16).

Sergeant Vanderheiden testified that he responded a few minutes after the dispatch call came in, and Deputy Anderson arrived a minute or two after him. (113:39-40). Deputy Stolz was already on-scene, and by his recollection Deputy Polinske arrived at about the same time he arrived. (113:40).

When Deputy Stolz arrived, he spoke with the passenger in Mr. Dalton's car (D.H.), who said that Mr. Dalton was "aggressively swerving the car" and "lost control" causing them to go into the ditch. (114:9-10). Deputy Stolz spoke with the passenger for two to three minutes before another deputy got a written statement from him. (114:10).

As Deputy Stolz talked with the passenger, the Deputy approached the car. (114:11-12). Mr. Dalton was inside the car lying on his left side. (114:11). According to Deputy Stolz, Mr. Dalton was at that point unconscious and smelled of alcohol. (114:12).

Deputy Stolz then examined the crash scene. (114:10-11). He looked at the "yaw marks" for about four to five minutes. (114:11).⁵ While he did that, Deputy Polinske talked to witnesses. (114:11).

When Sergeant Vanderheiden arrived, he also talked to the passenger. (113:41-42). He was unsure what Deputies Anderson and Polinske were doing at that point. (113:41-42). He was shown witness statements Deputy Polinske took with times of 10:31 pm and 10:50 pm; he testified that in his practice those times would reflect the times the statements were taken. (113:43). Sergeant Vanderheiden talked with the passenger for five to ten minutes until rescue arrived. (113:44).

Mr. Dalton was taken in an ambulance to Helsan Drive, "a mile at most" from the crash scene. (114:13). No officers rode with him in the ambulance. (113:74). Sergeant Vanderheiden went to the "landing zone," where Flight for Life landed a helicopter to take Mr. Dalton to the hospital. (113:44-45). He went to the landing zone at 10:37 pm. (113:71;90:7). He was the only police officer at the landing zone. (113:46). Sergeant Vanderheiden testified that it took about forty-five minutes from the time he got to the landing zone for Flight for Life to arrive. (113:46).

Deputy Stolz explained that when Mr. Dalton was taken in the ambulance, he "started investigating more of the crash scene"; he "look[ed] outside of the vehicle for evidence and so forth." (114:14). He stated that he did this for about four to five minutes. (114:14).

Deputy Stolz stated that at some point either he or another deputy would have provided Mr. Dalton's license

⁵ A "yaw mark" is a mark left by a tire when it "tries to rotate in one direction while sliding in another." 9 Am. Jur. 3d *Proof of Facts* 115, "Reconstruction of Traffic Accidents," § 9 (Dec. 2017 update).

plate number to dispatch. (114:13). Deputy Stolz learned Mr. Dalton's name from the passenger, and got Mr. Dalton's license when he was taken out of his car and placed in the ambulance. (114:13).

Deputy Stolz testified that Mr. Dalton was taken away twenty to twenty-five minutes after he arrived on scene. (114:14-15). By that time, he already knew Mr. Dalton's name, that Mr. Dalton had been driving, that Mr. Dalton was unconscious and lying on the roof of the crashed car, and that he smelled of alcohol. (114:15).

As Deputy Stolz investigated the crash scene after Mr. Dalton was gone, Deputy Polinske got written statements from witnesses who observed the crash. (114:16-17). Deputy Stolz could not recall what Deputy Anderson or Lieutenant Martin were doing at that point. (114:16-17).

Deputy Stolz instructed Sergeant Vanderheiden to go and speak with the passenger at Community Memorial Hospital in Menomonee Falls (a different hospital than where Mr. Dalton was taken). (114:18-19;113:47). At that point, Deputy Stolz and another officer had already talked with the passenger on-scene. (114:19).

Sergeant Vanderheiden left at 11:19 pm to go to see the passenger at the hospital in Menomonee Falls and arrived at 11:31 pm. (113:71-72;90:7). When he arrived, the passenger was having a CT scan. (113:49). After waiting, he asked the passenger to sign medical release forms, attempted to get a statement, and gave him a victim information sheet. (113:50). Sergeant Vanderheiden was at the passenger's hospital for around an hour, "[m]aybe a little bit more." (113:50). Sergeant Vanderheiden did not do anything else related to this case after leaving that hospital. (113:51). The CAD report reflects that he was finished with the matter and back in the county at 12:38 am. (113:72;90:7).

Deputy Stolz traveled by himself to Froedert to see Mr. Dalton. (114:26). Though he initially testified that he left for Froedert fifteen minutes after arriving on scene, when shown the police computerized activity report (hereinafter "CAD" report)(admitted as Exhibit 5) reflecting that he left the scene for Froedert at 11:14 pm (roughly an hour after he arrived on scene), he said that the number on the report was "possible." (114:20-21;90:7).

Deputy Stolz stated that there was a judge on call if he needed to obtain a warrant. (114:21). Sergeant Vanderheiden testified that it usually took about ten minutes for a judge to review a warrant affidavit during these in-person meetings. (113:75).

Deputy Stolz stated that he did not believe he would have been able to email an affidavit or warrant to the judge. (114:21). Sergeant Vanderheiden explained that only certain officers had access to email. (113:36). When asked whether he or another officer could have faxed something to a judge from the police station, Deputy Stolz testified that he had "never done a fax, never heard of a fax" being used. (114: 22). Sergeant Vanderheiden also stated that neither telephonic nor faxed warrants were part of the "protocol for Washington County." (113:60).

Instead, Deputy Stolz stated that if he had tried to obtain a warrant that evening, he would have had to "fill out a form" which included a checklist and then "make contact with the judge by phone, and then [the judge would] direct [the police] where to meet in-person." (114:21-22). Sergeant Vanderheiden also testified that this was the procedure at the time, and noted that they were typically able to reach the

⁶ Captain Schulteis clarified that the CAD reports admitted into evidence only reflect the actions of officers assigned to this case, not all of the officers working for the department that evening. (113:88).

on-call judge pretty quickly. (114:34-35,38). Sergeant Vanderheiden estimated that it generally took about fifteen to twenty-five minutes for officers to draft the warrant form. (113:61-62).

Captain Schulteis explained that before April of 2013 (when the Supreme Court decided *McNeely*), they "typically did not obtain search warrants" for drunk driving cases. (113:87).

Their department's protocol requiring officers to meet in person with a judge have the judge sign a warrant did not change after *McNeely*. (113:87).

The accident occurred fifteen minutes away from the police station. (114:22).

Deputy Stolz did not attempt to get a warrant for Mr. Dalton's blood after Mr. Dalton was taken from the scene. (114:22-23). Asked why not, he answered: "[e]xigent circumstances." (114:23).

He elaborated: "We had no officers available. And I also spoke to Lieutenant Martin about the situation, and he said, "[j]ust go ahead and obtain the blood without a warrant." (114:23). Deputy Stolz explained that this conversation would have occurred either before he drove to the hospital or while driving. (114:23).

He stated that the Lieutenant told him: "Due to exigent circumstances, we don't have any officers available, and I should continue my investigation and go through the OWI process at Froedert." (114:23). He clarified that "before calling him," he already knew that he had "exigent circumstances," but just wished to check with a supervisor. (114:32).

Deputy Stolz did not ask any of the other multiple officers involved for help in trying to get a warrant. (114:24).

Police requested a tow truck at 11:02 pm, less than an hour after police first arrived at 10:12 pm. (113:54;114:9; 90:3;91:2). An officer waited for the tow truck to arrive. (114:25,113:54).

The CAD report reflected that Deputy Stolz left for Froedert Hospital at 11:14 pm and arrived at 11:54 pm. (113: 69;90:7). When he arrived, he had to wait as Mr. Dalton was receiving medical care. (114:26-27). Deputy Stolz was unsure how long he had to wait. (114:26-27).

Deputy Stolz then spoke with Mr. Dalton, who was conscious; he read him the Informing the Accused Form at 12:05 am, two hours after he was dispatched to the scene. (114:28;92:1). Mr. Dalton said he would not consent to the blood draw and said: "Fuck you. Get the fuck away from me." (114:28;92:1).

Deputy Stolz did not attempt to get a warrant at that point. (114:29). When asked why not, he stated: "Still under exigent circumstances. No officers available." (114:29).

Deputy Stolz did not recall trying to speak with Lieutenant Martin again after Mr. Dalton refused; he did not call any other officers involved to try to get help with a warrant. (114:29-30).

He stated that he knew that "most of the officers were involved in some lengthy investigations." (114:29). He stated that he would have needed another officer's help with a warrant to "maintain custody of the Defendant." (114:40). He also explained that it would have been the Lieutenant's call as to whether other officers could be called. (114:40).

He did not attempt to call a judge, which would have been his responsibility if he wished to obtain a warrant. (114:30).

Deputy Stolz estimated that if he had attempted to get a warrant at that point, it would have taken "[t]wo hours at a minimum." (114:45). Sergeant Vanderheiden also testified that in his opinion this would have taken "at least two hours." (113:64). He testified that Washington County is 432 square miles. (113:61).

Deputy Stolz estimated that if another officer could have helped him, it would have taken an "hour minimum," "[p]robably more likely an hour and a half." (114:45-46). He also testified, though, that if other officers had not been "tied up," he would have "obtained a warrant." (114:48).

Sergeant Vanderheiden estimated that if another officer could have helped Deputy Stolz, that it would have saved him "probably an hour," "[m]aybe a little bit more." (113:64-65).

Mr. Dalton's blood was drawn at 12:14 am. (114:31). The CAD report reflects that Deputy Stolz left the hospital at 12:39 am, crossed back into the county at 12:57 am, and "finished the call" at 1:27 am. (113:70-71;90:7).

Deputy Stolz's police report, prepared the same day he ordered Mr. Dalton's blood drawn, was admitted into evidence. (95). Deputy Stolz acknowledged that it contained no reference to consideration of a warrant or of a conversation with the Lieutenant about whether he needed to get one. (114:32-34).⁷

⁷ He also acknowledged that his affidavit, signed over a year later and attached to the State's post-conviction response, also contained no mention of a conversation with his Lieutenant about whether he needed to obtain a warrant. (114:36-37:96).

The CAD report listed the times of the actions of others officers involved. (90).⁸ It reflects that Deputy Polinske went to a nearby plaza, which Sergeant Vanderheiden "assum[ed]" "was to collect witness statements," at 10:37 pm, and left at 10:59 pm. (113:53-54; 90:6). Captain Schulteis—who reviewed the records of the Washington County Sheriff's Department's activities that evening—explained that Deputy Polinske's work shift ended at 11 pm. (113:84).

Deputy Anderson was on scene from 10:15 pm, and was cleared to leave at 11:42 pm. (90:6;113:54). Captain Schulteis explained that eleven minutes after finishing his involvement in this case, Deputy Anderson and one other officer were dispatched to an "occupied stolen vehicle" call in Richfield. (113:83-84).

Lieutenant Martin arrived at 11:01 pm and finished at 11:46 pm. (90:6;113:68). Lieutenant Martin then immediately went to another personal injury accident where the driver fled the scene and power poles were down into the road. (113: 84-85). This took "an additional three deputies plus the supervisor." (113:85).

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