## **RECEIVED**

#### STATE OF WISCONSIN 01-19-2018

# IN SUPREME COURT COURT OF WISCONSIN

Case No. 2016AP2483-CR

STATE OF WISCONSIN,

Plaintiff-Respondent,

v.

PATRICK H. DALTON,

Defendant-Appellant-Petitioner.

ON APPEAL FROM A JUDGMENT OF CONVICTION AND ORDER DENYING POSTCONVICTION RELIEF ENTERED IN THE WASHINGTON COUNTY CIRCUIT COURT, THE HONORABLE TODD K. MARTENS, PRESIDING.

#### BRIEF OF THE PLAINTIFF-RESPONDENT

BRAD D. SCHIMEL Wisconsin Attorney General

DAVID H. PERLMAN Assistant Attorney General State Bar #1002730

Attorneys for Plaintiff-Respondent

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

#### ARGUMENT

#### I. Dalton's trial counsel was not ineffective.

## A. Controlling legal principles.

#### 1. Ineffective counsel.

The Sixth Amendment to the U.S. Constitution grants a criminal defendant the right to counsel, which includes a right to effective assistance of counsel. *State v. Trawitzki*, 2001 WI 77, ¶ 39, 244 Wis. 2d 523, 628 N.W.2d 801, *modified on other grounds by State v. Davison*, 2003 WI 89, ¶ 36, 263

Wis. 2d 145, 666 N.W.2d 1. A defendant who makes an ineffective assistance of counsel claim must show that (1) counsel performed deficiently, and (2) the deficient performance prejudiced the defendant. *Strickland v. Washington*, 466 U.S. 668, 687 (1984). If a defendant fails to prove one prong of the *Strickland* test, a court need not consider the other prong. *Id.* at 697.

The burden is on the defendant to show ineffective assistance of counsel, and to meet this burden the defendant must overcome a strong presumption that counsel acted reasonably within professional norms. State v. Johnson, 153 Wis. 2d 121, 127, 449 N.W.2d 845 (1990). While this Court reviews the law of ineffective counsel de novo, this review shall give great deference to the attorney and every effort is made to avoid determinations of ineffectiveness based on hindsight. State v. Jeannie, 2005 WI App 183, ¶ 21, 286 Wis. 2d 721, 703 N.W.2d 694. The benchmark for evaluating any claim of ineffectiveness is whether counsel's conduct so undermined the proper function of the adversarial process that the trial cannot be relied on as having produced a just result. State v. Domke, 2011 WI 95, ¶ 34, 337 Wis. 2d 268, 805 N.W.2d 364. In determining whether counsel was ineffective the court does not look at what might be ideal, but rather to what amounts to reasonable representation. State v. McMahon, 186 Wis. 2d 68, 80, 519 N.W.2d 621 (Ct. App. 1994). Counsel need not be perfect, nor even be very good, to be constitutionally adequate. State v. Thiel, 2013 WI 111, ¶ 19, 264 Wis. 2d 571, 665 N.W.2d 305.

If deficient performance is established the defendant has the burden to show the deficient performance was prejudicial. To demonstrate this prejudice the defendant must show that, absent trial counsel's errors, there was a reasonable probability of a different result. *State v. Jenkins*, 2014 WI 59, ¶ 49, 355 Wis. 2d 180, 848 N.W.2d 786. A

reasonable probability is a probability that is sufficient to undermine confidence in the outcome. *Jeannie*, 286 Wis. 2d 721, ¶ 26. This prejudice analysis takes into account the totality of the evidence before the trier of fact. Id.

In order to show prejudice under the *Strickland* test, the defendant seeking to withdraw his plea must show that there is a reasonable probability that, but for counsel's errors, he would not have pleaded guilty and would have insisted on going to trial. The defendant must show more than merely alleging that he would have pled differently, such an allegation must be supported by objective factual assertions. *State v. Bentley*, 201 Wis. 2d 303, 312–13, 548 N.W.2d 50 (1996).

# 2. Exigent circumstances in the OWI context.

A warrantless search is presumptively unreasonable and is constitutional only if it falls under an exception to the warrant requirement. One such exception is the exigent circumstance doctrine, which holds that a warrantless search complies with the Fourth Amendment if the need for the search is urgent and the time to obtain one is short. *State v. Tullberg*, 2014 WI 134, ¶ 30, 359 Wis. 2d 421, 857 N.W.2d 120. The test for determining exigent circumstances is an objective one. *State v. Robinson*, 2010 WI 80, ¶ 30, 327 Wis. 2d 302, 786 N.W.2d 463.

If exigent circumstances are present to justify a blood draw in an OWI case, four requirements must be met: (1) the blood draw is taken to obtain evidence from a person the police have probable cause to believe has committed a drunkdriving related violation; (2) there is a clear indication that the blood draw will produce evidence of intoxication; (3) the method used to take the blood sample is reasonable and performed in a reasonable manner; and (4) the subject presents no reasonable objection to the blood draw. State v. Howes, 2017 WI 18, ¶ 25, 373 Wis. 2d 468, 893 N.W.2d 812.

In order to determine if there is exigent circumstances for a warrantless search, courts look at the totality of the circumstances, a careful case-by-case assessment of exigency. *Howes*, 373 Wis. 2d 468, ¶ 35. Key factors in finding exigency are when a defendant's injuries require transport to a hospital and the officer has to investigate the accident scene. *Schmerber v. California*, 384 U.S. 757, 770–771 (1966). The *Schmerber* court referred to the circumstances of the driver's injuries and the need for a police investigation of the accident as "special facts." *Id*.

While the alcohol level in a person's blood begins to dissipate once the alcohol is fully absorbed, this physiological reality, by itself, is not a sufficient exigent circumstance to justify a warrantless blood draw. *Missouri v. McNeely*, 569 U.S. 141 (2013). But the *McNeely* court looked approvingly at its earlier holding in *Schmerber*, where the exigency of alcohol dissipation was joined with the special facts of a hospitalized defendant and an accident scene investigation to form lawful exigent circumstances for a warrantless blood draw. *Id.* at 150–54. As is evident from the Court's analysis in *Schmerber* and *McNeely*, facts such as the defendant's medical condition and the delay inherent in investigating an accident scene, are particularly relevant to an exigent circumstance analysis in a drunk-driving case. *Howes*, 373 Wis. 2d 468, ¶ 43.

# B. Dalton's counsel was not deficient in performance when she advised Dalton not to pursue a suppression motion that was unlikely to succeed.

Dalton tries to change the framework in this case's analysis by referring to the hearing that spawned this appeal as a *Machner*/suppression hearing, and erroneously claiming that the court of appeals had originally remanded the case for a Machner/suppression hearing. (See Dalton's Br. 4–5.) There was no *Machner*/suppression hearing. Rather, this case involved a *Machner* hearing, evaluating a lawvers representation in a case, where there was no suppression hearing. Thus, the analytical framework is not a de novo review as to whether exigent circumstances were present to justify a warrantless blood draw. Instead, it is a de novo review as to whether Dalton's counsel performed deficiently. The salient question is whether in this case, Attorney Herda fell below the objective standard of reasonably effective assistance, when she advised against pursuing a suppression motion, evaluating her performance after giving great deference to her actions, based on her perspective of the case. See Johnson, 153 Wis. 2d at 127. Attorney Herda's performance was well within the reasonably effective standard.

The lone challenge to Attorney Herda's competency was her decision to recommend that Dalton not seek suppression of the warrantless blood draw evidence. There is nothing in the record to suggest that Attorney Herda was not diligent in her approach to analyzing the issue. She was aware of the warrantless draw, of the *McNeely* decision and its implications, and had procured and reviewed the case's police reports, statements, and potential physical evidence. (R. 113:8, 13, 18.) Attorney Herda had received and reviewed Dalton's letter advising of his concerns as to the warrantless

blood draw, and she in turn wrote a memo to the file detailing her thoughts on the issue in a file memo. (R. 113:8–11.) Attorney Herda met with Dalton and discussed the blood draw issue and her thoughts, discussed the positives and negatives of filing a suppression motion, and discussed the application of the facts of the case to the relevant law. (R. 113:23.) And Attorney Herda also discussed with Dalton the fact that even if a motion had been filed, and even if it succeeded, they would still have the refusal and its evidentiary value to deal with. (R. 113:27.) Finally, after Attorney Herda discussed with Dalton the blood draw and provided him with her recommendation not to pursue a suppression motion, Dalton made the decision not to file the motion. (R. 113:23, 30.)

Attorney Herda was conscientious in both her approach to analyzing the blood draw issue and in her sharing of her perspective and recommendations with Dalton. Her conduct in this regard was clearly professional, reasonable, and certainly not deficient. Thus, the only way for Dalton to meet his burden of showing ineffective counsel, is to demonstrate that Herda's recommendation not to pursue a suppression motion was so contradictory to the law and the facts of the case, as to fall below the objective standard of reasonably effective assistance, and constitute deficient performance. Dalton cannot meet this burden.

## 1. The exigent circumstance issue.

There is no denying that *Missouri v. McNeely* substantially altered the OWI blood draw terrain in Wisconsin. *McNeely* overruled the long standing Wisconsin case of *State v. Bohling*, 173 Wis. 2d 529, 539, 494 N.W.2d 399 (1993), when it held that the natural dissipation of alcohol evidence does not constitute, by itself, a *per se* exigency. *McNeely*, 569 U.S. at 156. But, *McNeely*, does not overrule

Schmerber, which allowed for warrantless blood draws under certain circumstances. Instead, it clarifies that whether a warrantless blood draw is permissible under exigent circumstances is based on a case-by-case basis, under the totality of the circumstances. *Id.* And *McNeely* looked approvingly at *Schmerber*'s finding exigent circumstances when alcohol dissipation in the blood was combined with the "special facts" of time taken to transport the accused to the hospital and to investigate the accident scene. *Id.* at 150–51. Both of the *Schmerber* "special facts" circumstances are present here: the police had to investigate the crash site and Dalton was first ambulanced and then helicoptered by Flight for Life to Froedtert Hospital in Milwaukee.

From the onset this case presented as an emergency situation. Dalton had been involved in a serious car crash that ditched his vehicle, injured his passenger, and rendered him unconscious. (R. 114:10-12.) Police officers and the Fire Department had been dispatched to the scene and Dalton's injuries required a Flight for Life helicopter transport to another county's hospital. (R. 114:10, 12, 17.) And the severity of the crash and its aftermath took time and expended resources. Three officers were dispatched to the crash site, and they were replaced by others when Sergeant Vanderheiden was sent to Menomonee Falls to check in with the passenger (R. 113:48), and Deputy Stolz went to Milwaukee's Froedtert Hospital to deal with Dalton. (R. 114:19–20.) Dalton, after arriving at Froedtert. underwent emergency treatment and was not available to Deputy Stolz until around 12:05 a.m., approximately an hour and fifty-eight minutes after Stolz had been originally dispatched to the crash site. (R. 114:28.)

Dalton's crash was not the only matter being dealt with by the Washington County Sheriff's Department. There was a stolen automobile situation requiring two deputies, and another traffic crash, a hit and run that left a vehicle in the middle of the road and brought down power poles, which required three deputies and a supervisor. (R. 113:84–85.) As Deputy Stolz was in Milwaukee with Dalton and Deputy Vanderheiden in Menomonee Falls with the passenger, there were only two deputies left to cover the whole county, at the time Dalton refused his test. (R. 113:85.) So, Deputy Stolz could not reasonably enlist another Washington County officer for assistance in his dealings with Dalton.

The Washington County search warrant protocol in place at the time of Dalton's blood draw called for the officer to contact the duty judge, fill out the probable cause affidavit check list, and meet the judge in a mutually agreed to place for review and signature. (R. 113:35.) This search warrant protocol was the product of a collaboration of Washington County Circuit Court judges. (R. 113:86.) Deputy Stolz testified, and the trial judge found, that completing the search warrant process, from the time Dalton refused, would have taken about an hour and a half without help, and a minimum of two hours by himself. (R. 114:45–46, 80–82.) In either event the search warrant could not have been procured within the statutorily required three hour limit for the test's automatic admissibility.<sup>3</sup> (R. 114:83–84.)

This case involved a serious car crash and a subsequent investigation involving many officers, and serious injuries requiring both vehicle occupants to be transported to different hospitals in different counties. And this case occurred within a time frame where two other serious matters necessitating police investigation and assistance occurred in Washington County. Through no fault of his own, or through any attempt at a contrived delay, Deputy Stolz could not read the

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>3</sup> See Wis. Stat. § 885.235.

Informing the Accused Form to Dalton until two hours after his initial dispatch to the crash scene. The natural flow of events placed Stolz in Milwaukee County at the time he was first aware that he would need a search warrant, making it impossible to complete the search warrant procedure within the three-hour automatic admissibility rule. Under the totality of circumstances, Deputy Stolz properly believed he had exigent circumstances for a warrantless blood draw. (R. 114:28–30.)

Dalton claims there were no exigent circumstances. He supports this contention with two flawed theories. First, he argues that Deputy Stolz should have applied for a search warrant within minutes of his arrival at the scene, since that was all the time necessary to obtain probable cause. (Dalton's Br. 22–23.) This is a misreading of the record. To be sure, within minutes upon arrival at the scene, Stolz was aware of the crash and, that Dalton had been drinking and driving. But, the passenger who advised Stolz that Dalton had been drinking did not know how much Dalton might have drunk. (R. 114:38.) And Stolz had little opportunity to observe Dalton at the crash site, as Dalton was unconscious and the necessary focus was on dealing with his severe injuries. It was not until Deputy Stolz had a chance to observe Dalton in a less stressed environment, at the hospital, that he could fully observe and appreciate Dalton's intoxicated condition. (R. 114:38–39.) The trial court made a finding of fact that it was not until Stolz fully observed Dalton at the Froedtert Hospital in Milwaukee that he believed that Dalton was under the influence of an intoxicant. (R. 114:78.) This finding of fact is consistent with the record and not clearly erroneous. *McNeely* does not require the police to rush to premature probable cause determinations.

Second, Dalton argues that the police should have applied for a search warrant right away, so as to be prepared

in the event that Dalton would later refuse the test. And he blames the police delay in getting a warrant on prioritizing everything else over a search warrant application. (Dalton's Br. 28–29.) This argument fails for two reasons: (1) the police properly prioritized dealing with the crash scene and dealing with Dalton's emergency medical needs over attempting to procure a search warrant in anticipation that they might eventually arrest Dalton, and that he would then refuse a test he had already given his implied consent to take, and (2) as argued above, Deputy Stolz did not yet have probable cause to believe that Dalton was guilty of OWI, and even if he did have probable cause he had no way of knowing that a warrant would be necessary, as he had no way of predicting that Dalton would regain consciousness or, if he did, that he would refuse the test. McNeely does not require the police to obtain anticipatory search warrants for insurance in the event of a refusal. As the trial court properly observed, the argument that the police should have applied for a search warrant right away is completely unpersuasive, as there had been no arrest and there had been no refusal. (R. 114:85–86.)

Dalton claims that his case was a prime example of what might have been permissible before *McNeely* but now is clearly impermissible. (Dalton's Br. 28–29.) The converse is true; this case with its crash investigation and medical emergency components is a prime example of the type of warrantless blood draw based on exigent circumstances endorsed by *McNeely* and by this Court in *Tullberg* and *Howes*.

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